MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF LAGUNA WOODS MUTUAL NO. FIFTY A CALIFORNIA NON-PROFIT MUTUAL BENEFIT CORPORATION

May 15, 2014

The Board of Directors of Laguna Woods Mutual No. Fifty, a California non-profit mutual benefit corporation, met at 1:00 P.M. on Thursday, May 15, 2014 at 24055 Paseo del Lago West, Laguna Woods, California.

Directors Present: Ryna Rothberg-Chair; Alice Gokkes, Inesa Nord-Leth,

Chace Kendro, John Dalis

Directors Absent: None

Others Present: Jerry Storage, Christine Polek, Katy Howe, Ed Presley

Executive Session: Trent Osborne, Alison Kronebusch, and Clay Preston of Reconstruction Experts Inc., Cathy Flores of

Century 21 Award Real Estate

CALL TO ORDER

President Ryna Rothberg served as Chair of the meeting and stated that it was a regular meeting held pursuant to notice duly given and that a quorum was present. The meeting was called to order at 1:00 P.M.

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG

Director Dalis led the membership in the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag.

APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Without objection, the agenda was approved as written.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

Without objection, the Board reviewed and approved the minutes of the Special Meeting of March 28, 2014 and the Regular Meeting of April 17, 2014.

PRESIDENT'S COMMENTS

President Rothberg commented on various items relating to the Towers.

GOLDEN RAIN FOUNDATION

Mr. Jerry Storage gave the May 6, 2014 Golden Rain Foundation Board Meeting report.

RESALE AND LEASING REPORTS

Mr. Jerry Storage reported on the resale and leasing activity at the Towers.

Director Kendro left the meeting at 1:30 P.M.

ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT

Ms. Katy Howe provided an update on fire alarms, the Towers appearing on 60 Minutes, the OC Register article on Laguna Woods Village, activities staff changes, and dining room check in. Ms. Howe spoke about upcoming projects including paint removal and repainting of the buildings, generator and fire pump replacements, kitchen component replacements, and new chairs for the Crystal Dining Room. Ms. Howe answered questions from the Board and Members, presented a report from Guckenheimer, and presented a report from Realtor Cathy Flores.

By way of unanimous consensus, the Board directed staff to change weekend coffee service to the same as weekday coffee service, serving cookies instead of pastries.

REVIEW PRELIMINARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ms. Katy Howe reviewed the Preliminary Financial Statements with the Board.

MEMBERS' COMMENTS

- Anne Gilbert (1403) commented on patrolling coffee service.
- Jan Forsse (1158) commented on patrolling coffee service.
- Renee Merer (1005) commented on the Activities Committee and Guckenheimer service.
- John "Jack" Hammen (662) commented on the emergency warning recorded message.

RESPONSE TO MEMBERS COMMENTS

The Directors briefly responded to Members' comments.

CONSENT CALENDAR

There were no items on the Consent Calendar.

OLD BUSINESS

Director Gokkes read a proposed resolution approving revisions to the 2014 Collection and Lien Enforcement Policy and Procedures for Assessment Delinquencies. Director Gokkes moved to approve the resolution. Director Nord-Leth seconded the motion.

By a vote of 3-0-0, the motion carried and the Board of Directors adopted the following resolution:

RESOLUTION M50-14-27

Collection and Lien Enforcement Policy

WHEREAS, Section 5310 of the California Civil Code requires that homeowner associations have a specific policy relating to collection of delinquent assessment accounts and enforcement of liens placed upon such delinquent properties; and

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, May 15, 2014, that the Board of Directors of this Corporation hereby approves the attached Collection and Lien Enforcement Policy and Procedures for Assessment Delinquencies, effective June 1, 2014; and

RESOLVED FURTHER, that Resolution M50-13-60, adopted November 21, 2013 is hereby superseded and cancelled; and

RESOLVED FURTHER that the officers and agents of this Corporation are hereby authorized on behalf of the Corporation to carry out the purpose of this resolution.

Director Gokkes read a proposed resolution approving a Room Service Policy. Director Gokkes moved to approve the resolution. Director Nord-Leth seconded the motion and discussion ensued.

Renee Merer (1005), Julia Ross (562), Director Dalis, and President Rothberg commented on revisions to the menu.

By a vote of 3-0-0, the motion carried and the Board of Directors adopted the following resolution:

Resolution M50-14-28

Room Service Policy

WHEREAS, Laguna Hills Mutual No. Fifty operates a kitchen to serve dinner to its residents nightly; and

WHEREAS, not all residents can dine each evening in the dining rooms, therefore the residents are allowed to order their meal delivered to their room for a fee (\$5/night); and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has been made aware of several ways that Room Service is not being used in the way it was originally intended (to deliver a normal dinner to a resident's room when a resident cannot or does not want to eat in the dining rooms);

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, May 15, 2014, that the Board of Directors of this Corporation hereby adopts the following Room Service Ordering Policy:

Residents of the Towers will be allowed to order room service from the designated "Room Service Menu" (see attached). No orders for individual food items (e.g. whole tomato or bagel) will be taken and/or served via Room Service.

Residents are not allowed to use the dining rooms and Room Service in the same evening. Residents found to be double ordering from dining rooms and Room Service in the same evening will be billed the guest dinner ticket charge and issued a warning from the Administrator. The second violation of this policy will suspend a resident's Room Service privileges for one year.

RESOLVED FURTHER, that the officers and agents of this Corporation are hereby authorized on behalf of the Corporation to carry out the purpose of this resolution.

NEW BUSINESS (Items for Discussion and Consideration)

Director Gokkes read a proposed resolution approving a supplemental appropriation to replace the air conditioning system in Tower II. Director Gokkes moved to approve the resolution. Director Dalis seconded the motion.

By a vote of 3-0-0, the motion carried and the Board of Directors adopted the following resolution:

Resolution M50-14-29

Supplemental Appropriation for Heating and Air Conditioning

WHEREAS, Mutual No. Fifty has an extensive heating and air conditioning system in both Towers of the building; and

WHEREAS, the heating and air conditioning coils on Tower II that handle the heating and cooling loads had developed substantial leaks, and were causing damage to the building's heating and cooling system; and

WHEREAS, these coils were not listed for replacement in the Mutual's Replacement Fund; and

WHEREAS, an outside vendor was brought in at the end of April to make an emergency replacement of the heating and air conditioning coils at a cost of \$22,310;

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, May 15, 2014, that the Board of Directors of this Corporation hereby authorizes a supplemental appropriation in the amount of \$22,310 to be funded from the Replacement Fund for replacement of the heating and air conditioning coils at Tower II; and

RESOLVED FURTHER, that the officers and agents of this Corporation are hereby authorized on behalf of the Corporation to carry out the purpose of this resolution.

Laguna Woods Mutual No. Fifty Minutes of the Regular Meeting of the Board Page 5 of 19

The Board discussed the development of an asset requirement when purchasing in the Towers. Ms. Katy Howe provided a document from Legal Counsel regarding an asset requirement policy.

Blanche Goldman (1010), Estelle Kravitz (1211), Nancy Hou (204), Herb Harris (454), Anne Gilbert (1403) and Director Dalis commented on a potential asset requirement in Mutual No. Fifty.

Ms. Katy Howe will draft an asset policy to be reviewed at the June Regular Board Meeting.

The Board discussed the purchase and installation of a ping pong table.

Milan Radovic (1455) commented on where to purchase the ping pong table. Anne Gilbert (1403) offered to buy the table for \$230. Jan Foster (256) and Director Nord-Leth commented on the ping pong table.

By way of unanimous consensus, the Board accepted Anne Gilbert's offer to pay for the ping pong table, and directed staff to place the table in the exterior galleria upon delivery.

The Board discussed creating 4-hour visitor parking at the front of the building.

Julia Ross (562) commented on 15-minute parking and loading zones, and Nancy Hou (204) commented on guest parking.

Director Gokkes made a motion to direct staff to establish 4-hour parking in the front of the building. Director Nord-Leth seconded the motion.

By a vote of 3-0-0, the motion carried.

Trent Osborne, Alison Kronebusch, and Clay Preston of Reconstruction Experts Inc. entered the meeting at 3:00 P.M.

The Board tabled Agenda Items 14(e) and 14(f).

MUTUAL FIFTY COMMITTEE REPORTS

Due to time constraints, no reports were given.

GRF COMMITTEE REPORTS

Due to time constraints, no reports were given.

RECESS

The meeting recessed at 3:05 P.M. and reconvened into Executive Session at 3:10 P.M.

Summary of Previous Closed Session Meetings per Civil Code Section §4935

Laguna Woods Mutual No. Fifty Minutes of the Regular Meeting of the Board Page 6 of 19 May 15, 2014

During its Regular Executive Session meeting of April 17, 2014, the Board approved the March 20, 2014 Regular Executive Session minutes; approved (1) Non-Judicial Foreclosure Sale Date; and discussed litigation and delinquency matters.

There being no further business to come before the Board, the May 15, 2014 meeting was adjourned at 5:05 P.M.

Alice Gokkes, Secretary	

YEAR 2014 COLLECTION AND LIEN ENFORCEMENT POLICY AND PROCEDURES FOR ASSESSMENT DELINQUENCIES

PURPOSE STATEMENT

The following is a statement of the specific procedures, policies and practices ("Policy Statement") employed by Laguna Woods Mutual No. Fifty, a California nonprofit mutual benefit corporation (the "Mutual") in enforcing lien rights or other legal remedies for default in payment of its assessments against its owners ("Members"). This Policy Statement is provided pursuant to the requirements of California Civil Code section 5310(a)(7).

The collection of delinquent assessments is of vital concern to all Members of the Mutual. Such efforts ensure that all Members pay their fair share of the costs of services and facilities provided and maintained by the Mutual. Members' failure to pay assessments when due creates a cashflow problem for the Mutual and causes those Members who make timely payment of their assessments to bear a disproportionate share of the community's financial obligations. Special assessments must be received in a timely fashion in order to finance the needs for which said special assessments are imposed.

Accordingly, in order to reduce the amount and duration of delinquencies and to encourage the prompt and full payment of all assessments, the Mutual has been vested with certain enforcement rights and remedies which are in addition to those which exist generally for creditors. These rights and remedies are described in this Policy Statement.

WE SINCERELY TRUST THAT ALL MEMBERS, IN THE SPIRIT OF COOPERATION AND RECOGNIZING THEIR LEGAL OBLIGATIONS, WILL MAKE TIMELY PAYMENTS AND AVOID THE IMPOSITION OF LATE CHARGES, POSSIBLE RESULTANT LEGAL ACTION, AND THE LEGAL OBLIGATION TO REIMBURSE THE MUTUAL FOR THE COSTS OF SUCH LEGAL ACTION. IT IS IN THE BEST INTEREST OF YOU AND EVERY OTHER MEMBER OF THE MUTUAL FOR EACH OF YOU TO MAKE YOUR MONTHLY PAYMENTS ON TIME.

REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE MUTUAL RECORDS A LIEN ON YOUR PROPERTY DURING THE COLLECTION OF PAST-DUE ASSESSMENTS, ALL MEMBERS HAVE A PERSONAL AND ONGOING OBLIGATION TO PAY ASSESSMENTS AND CHARGES.

BASIC POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

Delinquency reports are made monthly by the Mutual's managing agent to the Board of the Mutual, identifying the delinquent Member, amount and the length of time the assessments have been in arrears. The policies and practices outlined in this Policy Statement shall remain in effect until such time as they may be changed, modified, or amended by a duly adopted resolution of the Mutual's Board of Directors, or unless the applicable statutory scheme changes, in which event, this Policy Statement shall be construed so as to be consistent with any newly adopted statutes or court decisions. In accordance with the Mutual's governing documents

(including, without limitation, the Articles of Incorporation, the Bylaws, the recorded CC&R's, rules and regulations and the California Civil Code), to ensure the prompt payment of monthly assessments, the Mutual employs the following collection and lien enforcement procedures:

Assessment Due Date

Regular assessments are due and payable to the Mutual, in advance, in equal monthly installments, on the first day of each month. It is each Member's responsibility to pay assessments in full each month regardless of whether a billing statement is received. Special assessments shall be due and payable on the due date specified by the Board of Directors in the notice imposing the special assessment or in the ballot presenting the special assessment to the Members for approval. In no event shall a special assessment be due and payable earlier than thirty (30) days after the special assessment is duly imposed.

Reminder Notice

If the current monthly assessment is not received by the Mutual on or before the close of business on the sixteenth (16th) day of the month (or if a special assessment is not received by the Mutual on or before the close of business on the fifteenth (15th) day after it is due), a Reminder Notice is sent to the Member.

PLEASE NOTE THAT TO BE CONSIDERED TIMELY, THE PAYMENT MUST BE RECEIVED BY THE MUTUAL WITHIN THIS FIFTEEN (15) DAY GRACE PERIOD. SIMPLY PLACING THE PAYMENT IN THE MAIL BEFORE THE GRACE PERIOD EXPIRES IS NOT SUFFICIENT.

Administrative Collection Fee

It is the policy of the Mutual not to routinely waive any duly imposed late charges, interest, or actually incurred "Costs of Collection." "Costs of Collection" as used in this Policy Statement include, without limitation, an administrative collection fee, currently in the amount of Five Hundred Dollars (\$500) (the "Administrative Collection Fee"), which is charged by the Mutual's managing agent to cover staff's costs to prepare the files for delivery to the Mutual's legal counsel in order to carry out legal actions authorized hereunder, as well as direct costs incurred in recording and/or mailing documents attendant to this legal process.

This Administrative Collection Fee may be increased by majority vote of the Mutual's Board, and may be collected by the Mutual's legal counsel on its behalf, and remitted to the Mutual's managing agent, or may be directly collected by the Mutual's managing agent.

Late Charge

IT IS THE MEMBER'S RESPONSIBILITY TO ALLOW AMPLE TIME TO DROP OFF OR MAIL ALL PAYMENTS SO THAT THEY ARE RECEIVED BEFORE THE DELINQUENCY DATE. All notices or invoices for assessments will be sent to Members by first-class mail addressed to the Member at his or her address as shown on the books and records of the Mutual. However, it is the Member's responsibility to be aware of the assessment payment due dates and to advise the Mutual of any changes in the Member's mailing address.

Laguna Woods Mutual No. Fifty Minutes of the Regular Meeting of the Board Page 9 of 19

A late payment charge for a delinquent assessment will be assessed in the amount of Twenty Dollars (\$20.00) and will be imposed on any assessment payment that is more than fifteen (15) days in arrears. Further, both state law and the Mutual's governing documents provide for interest on the delinquent assessment and the late charge, and accordingly interest may be imposed thirty (30) days after the assessment is due, at an annual percentage rate not to exceed ten percent (10%). Such interest may be imposed and collected per the foregoing sentence regardless of whether the Member's delinquent account is referred to the Mutual's legal counsel for further handling.

Demand Letter (aka Pre-Lien Letter)

If full payment of the delinquent amount is not received by the close of business on the day which is fifteen (15) days after the date of the Reminder Notice, a Demand Letter (also known as a Pre-Lien Letter under California Civil Code sections 5650-5660) will be sent to the Member by Certified Mail. The Mutual, through its managing agent, will also attempt to contact the Member by telephone to remind the Member of the delinquency and determine when payment will be made. However, no assurances can be given that the Mutual will in fact reach the Member by telephone, and the Member is responsible to pay off the delinquency whether or not a telephone reminder is actually received by the Member.

Alternate Means to Collect Delinquent Sums

If full payment of the delinquent amount is not received by the close of business on the thirtieth (30th) day after the date of the Demand Letter, the Mutual may, at its option, and based on the circumstances of the delinquency, including but not limited to, the total delinquent amount owing and the Member's payment history, undertake to collect the delinquency by: (1) suspending a Member's right to use Mutual or GRF facilities; (2) termination of the delinquent Member's Membership in the Mutual as a result of any foreclosure, (3) legal actions, discussed further below, or (4) other appropriate means.

The Mutual may, after following appropriate procedures prescribed by law and the Mutual's governing documents, suspend a delinquent Member's right to vote on matters as to which the Member would otherwise be entitled to vote (based on applicable law and/or the Mutual's governing documents), or to use facilities or receive services provided by the Mutual, or both, until the delinquency is paid in full, including interest, a late charge, and/or the Administrative Collection Fee, as may have been imposed or incurred in a particular instance. Failure to pay the assessments or failure to pay interest, a late fee, and/or the Administrative Collection Fee may also result in suspension of Membership in and the ability to use the facilities or services provided by the Golden Rain Foundation of Laguna Woods or by this Mutual.

The Mutual may also take various legal actions to enforce the collection of delinquencies. THESE ACTIONS MAY BE TAKEN SEPARATELY OR CONCURRENTLY.

Asset Investigation

The Association may, in its discretion, hire a Private Investigator ("PI") to research a delinquent Member's available assets. An asset investigation will assist the Board in making an informed decision as to the correct collection action to take against the delinquent Member. Any and all

Laguna Woods Mutual No. Fifty Minutes of the Regular Meeting of the Board Page 10 of 19

costs of the investigation will be included on the delinquent Member's account as a reasonable cost of collection pursuant to Civil Code Section 5650.

Small Claims Court

A civil action in small claims court may be filed (and/or a lien recorded, as to which the Mutual is prohibited from foreclosing while the amount of the delinquent assessments, exclusive of any late charges, fees, attorney's fees, interest, and Costs of Collection is less than One Thousand Eight Hundred Dollars (\$1,800), or the delinquent assessments are not yet more than twelve (12) months delinquent), with a management company representative or bookkeeper appearing and participating on behalf of the Mutual.

PLEASE NOTE THAT A SMALL CLAIMS COURT ACTION MAY BE PURSUED BASED ON A BOARD RESOLUTION EITHER BEFORE OR AFTER RECORDING A NOTICE OF DELINQUENT ASSESSMENT, AND/OR AFTER A WRITE-OFF.

The amount that may be recovered in small claims court may not exceed the jurisdictional limits of the small claims court, and shall be the sum of the following: (a) the amount owed as of the date of filing of the complaint in the small claims court proceeding; and (b) in the discretion of the court, an additional amount equal to the amount owed for the period from the date the complaint is filed until satisfaction of the judgment, which total amount may include accruing unpaid assessments and any reasonable late charges, fees and Costs of Collection (which costs shall, as stated above, include, without limitation, the Administrative Collection Fee), attorney's fees and interest, all up to the jurisdictional limits of the small claims court.

Successive small claims court actions may be pursued, consistently with applicable laws, until the entire amount of the delinquency is recovered.

Foreclosure/ADR

Additionally, or alternatively, if the amount of delinquent assessments (again, not including any late charges, fees, attorney's fees, interest, or Costs of Collection), exceeds One Thousand Eight Hundred Dollars (\$1,800), or any unpaid assessments are more than twelve (12) months delinquent, then, subject to specified conditions, the Mutual may initiate foreclosure proceedings to collect the amounts owed.

These conditions include that, prior to initiating a foreclosure, the Mutual shall offer the Member, and if so requested by the Member, the Mutual must participate in dispute resolution pursuant to the Mutual's "meet and confer" program, or alternative dispute resolution ("ADR"). THE DECISION TO PURSUE DISPUTE RESOLUTION OR A PARTICULAR TYPE OF ADR SHALL BE THE CHOICE OF THE MEMBER, EXCEPT THAT BINDING ARBITRATION SHALL NOT BE AVAILABLE IF THE MUTUAL INTENDS TO INITIATE A JUDICIAL FORECLOSURE.

Board Decision to Initiate Foreclosure

Another condition is that the decision to initiate foreclosure of a lien for delinquent assessments that has been validly recorded shall be made only by the Board, and may not be delegated to an

Laguna Woods Mutual No. Fifty Minutes of the Regular Meeting of the Board Page 11 of 19

agent of the Mutual. The Board shall approve the decision by a majority vote of the Board in an executive session. The vote must be recorded in the minutes of the next meeting of the Board open to all Members; however, the confidentiality of the delinquent Member shall be maintained by identifying the matter in the minutes only by the Parcel Number, and not by the name of the delinquent Member or Members. A Board vote to approve foreclosure of a lien shall take place at least thirty (30) days prior to any public sale or judicial foreclosure.

The Board must provide notice by personal service to an owner of a separate interest or their legal representative, if the Board votes to foreclose. For a non-occupying owner, the Board must provide written notice by first-class mail, postage prepaid, at the most current address shown on the books of the Mutual. In the absence of written notification by a non-occupying owner to the Mutual, the address of the owner's separate interest may be treated as the owner's mailing address.

Non-Judicial Foreclosure/Right of Redemption

A non-judicial foreclosure by the Mutual to collect upon a debt for delinquent assessments is subject to a statutory right of redemption. The redemption period within which the separate interest may be redeemed from a foreclosure sale ends ninety (90) days after the sale, per California Civil Code section 5715.

If a foreclosure action is prosecuted to judgment and the judgment is in favor of the Mutual, assets of the Member may be seized or a lien may be placed on such assets to satisfy the judgment. Pursuant to the provisions of the Davis-Stirling Common Interest Development Act, applicable regulations, and the Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions (CC&R's), the delinquent amount, as well as late payment penalties for the delinquent assessments and/or interest charges and/or charges for Costs of Collection that are incurred by the Mutual or its managing agent acting on behalf of the Mutual in its efforts to collect delinquent assessments (including, but not limited to, attorney's fees, title company and foreclosure service company charges, charges imposed to defray the cost of preparing and mailing demand letters (such as the Administrative Collection Fee), recording costs and costs associated with small claims court actions) may be enforced as a lien against the Member's Manor.

Moreover, pursuant to the Davis-Stirling Common Interest Development Act, monetary penalties that have been imposed by the Mutual as a means of reimbursing the Mutual for costs incurred by the Mutual in the repair of damage to common areas and/or community facilities for which a Member or a Member's guests or tenants were responsible may also be enforced as a lien against the Member's Manor.

<u>Prerequisites to Recording a Lien: Offer of ADR and Thirty (30) Day Pre-Lien Notice to the Delinquent Member</u>

Before a Notice of Delinquent Assessment can be recorded in the chain of title to the manor of a delinquent Member, the Mutual must offer the Member, and if so requested by the Member, the Mutual must participate in dispute resolution pursuant to the Mutual's "meet and confer" program (per the requirements set forth in Article 2 commencing with section 5900 of

Chapter 10) or ADR as set forth in Article 3 (commencing with Section 5925 of Chapter 10), both in the California Civil Code.

Any choice by a Member to pursue any kind of ADR must be made by the Member's delivery of written notice of such choice to the Mutual's managing agent within thirty (30) days of any event which triggers a Member's right to pursue ADR, whether it is before a Notice of Delinquent Assessment can be recorded (i.e., upon receipt of the certified Pre-Lien Notice), or prior to initiating a foreclosure action, or in any other situation for which the Davis-Stirling Common Interest Development Act or the Mutual's governing documents authorize or allow a Member to choose ADR.

THE DECISION TO PURSUE DISPUTE RESOLUTION OR A PARTICULAR TYPE OF ADR SHALL BE THE CHOICE OF THE OWNER. However, binding arbitration is not available if the Mutual intends to initiate a judicial foreclosure.

Pre-Lien Notice

If the Member elects not to proceed with dispute resolution or any type of ADR, then the Mutual must send the Member a certified notice providing information regarding the sums claimed as being delinquent ("Pre-Lien Notice"). No lien can be recorded until thirty (30) days after this Pre-Lien Notice has been given.

This certified Pre-Lien Notice from the Mutual must include the following information (per California Civil Code section 5660):

- (a) A general description of the collection and lien enforcement procedures of the Mutual and the method of calculation of the amount that is claimed to be owed, a statement that the owner of the separate interest has the right to inspect the association records pursuant to section 5205, and the following statement in 14-point capital letters (or boldface type): "IMPORTANT NOTICE: IF YOUR SEPARATE INTEREST IS PLACED IN FORECLOSURE BECAUSE YOU ARE BEHIND IN YOUR ASSESSMENTS, IT MAY BE SOLD WITHOUT COURT ACTION";
- (b) An itemized statement of the charges owed by the Member, including items on the statement that indicate the amount of any delinquent assessments, the fees and Costs of Collection, reasonable attorney's fees, and late charges, and interest, if any;
- (c) A statement that the Member shall not be liable to pay the charges, interests and Costs of Collection if it is determined that the assessment was paid on time to the Mutual;
- (d) A statement that the notified Member has a right to meet with the Board to discuss a payment plan (further discussed below) as provided in Section 5665;
- (e) A statement that the Member has the right to dispute the assessment debt by submitting a written request for dispute resolution to the Board pursuant to the

Mutual's "meet and confer" program required in Article 2 (commencing with Section 5990) of Chapter 10; and

(f) A statement that the Member has the right to request alternative dispute resolution (ADR) with a neutral third party pursuant to Article 3 (commencing with Section 5925 of Chapter 10 before the Mutual may initiate foreclosure against the owner's separate interest, except that binding arbitration shall not be available if the Mutual intends to initiate a judicial foreclosure.

Member's Right to Request a Meeting with the Board, or Dispute Resolution or ADR.

Upon receipt of the certified Pre-Lien Notice described above, the noticed Member has several possible courses of action that can be taken at this point in the collection process, such as:

- (a) The Member has the right to dispute the assessment debt by submitting a written request for dispute resolution to the Mutual pursuant to the Mutual's "meet and confer" program, which is required by Civil Code sections 5900-5920;
- (b) The noticed Member may exercise his or her right to participate in alternative dispute resolution with a neutral third party under Civil Code sections 5925-5965 before the Mutual may initiate foreclosure against the owner's separate interest, except that binding arbitration shall not be available if the Mutual intends to initiate a judicial foreclosure.
- (c) The noticed Member has a right to submit a written request to meet with the Board of Directors to discuss a payment plan for the delinquent assessment, as long as the request for a meeting is made within fifteen (15) days following the postmark on the Mutual's Pre-Lien Notice to the Member. That meeting must take place within forty-five (45) days (calculated from the postmark on the Member's request) and must be conducted in executive session. When a Member has made a timely request for a meeting to discuss a payment plan, the Mutual must provide the requesting Member with the Mutual's standards for payment plans, if any standards have been adopted. There is no statutory authorization for the Board to delegate this meeting obligation to a property manager, but the Board may designate a committee of one or more directors to meet with the Member if there is no regularly scheduled Board meeting that will occur within forty-five (45) days of the Member's request.

Payment Plan Requests

Any Member who is unable to timely pay regular or special assessments is entitled to make a written request for a payment plan to the Mutual's Board. A Member may also request to meet with the Board in executive session to discuss a payment plan if the payment plan request is mailed within fifteen (15) days of the postmark date of the Demand Letter (i.e., the Pre-Lien Letter). The Mutual's Board will consider payment plan requests on a case-by-case basis, and is under no obligation to grant payment plan requests. Payment plans may incorporate any assessments that accrue during the payment plan period. Payment plans may not impede the Mutual's ability to record a lien on the Member's separate interest to secure payment of

Page 14 of 19

delinquent assessments. Additional late fees shall not accrue during the payment plan period if the Member is in compliance with the terms of the payment plan. In the event of a default on any payment plan, the Mutual may resume its efforts to collect the delinquent assessments from the time prior to entering into the payment plan.

Also, Civil Code section 5965 requires the Mutual to include the following statement in this Policy Statement:

"Failure of a Member of the association to comply with the alternative dispute resolution requirements of Section 5930 of the Civil Code may result in the loss of your right to sue the association or another Member of the association regarding enforcement of the governing documents or the applicable law."

If any "meet and confer" session or ADR is engaged in by and between the Member and the Mutual (or any neutral third parties, as the case may be), and these efforts do not result in a payment plan, then, assuming the new statutory minimum as to the delinquent amount or duration of the delinquency had been met, a proceeding may be commenced to foreclose the lien against the Member's Manor and sell the Member's Manor at a private sale or by a judicial sale. If this occurs, the Member may lose his or her Manor.

Application of Payments

Additionally, in accordance with state law, payments received on delinquent assessments shall be applied to the Member's account in the following order of priority: first, to the principal owed; then to accrued interest and late charges; then to attorney's fees; then to title company and foreclosure service company charges and other Costs of Collection. Payments on account of principal shall be applied in reverse order so that the oldest arrearages are retired first. Interest shall continue to accrue on unpaid balances of principal, and other costs and charges imposed in accordance with Civil Code section 5655.

The Mutual is prohibited from recording a lien or initiating a foreclosure action without participating in dispute resolution or ADR procedures if so requested by the Member. If it is determined through dispute resolution or ADR that the Mutual has recorded a lien for delinquent assessments in error, the Mutual is required to promptly reverse all late charges, fees, interest, attorney's fees, Costs of Collection, costs imposed for the Pre-Lien Notice prescribed in Section 5660, and costs of recordation and release of the lien authorized under subdivision (b) of Section 5720, and pay all costs related to any dispute resolution or ADR that has been pursued.

Secondary Address

Members have a right to identify in writing to the Mutual a secondary address for purposes of collection notices delivered pursuant to this Policy Statement, and upon receipt of a written request from a Member identifying a secondary address, the Mutual must send additional notices to this secondary address.

No Right of Offset

There is no right of offset. This means that a Member may not withhold assessments owed to the Mutual on the alleged grounds that the Member would be entitled to recover money or damages from the Mutual based on some other obligation or some claim of another obligation.

Returned Checks

The Mutual may charge the Member a twenty-five dollar (\$25.00) fee for the first check tendered to the Mutual that is returned unpaid by the Member's bank, and thereafter, the Mutual may charge a thirty-five dollar (\$35.00) fee for any subsequent check that is returned based on insufficient funds. If a Member's check cannot be negotiated for any reason, then the Mutual may also seek to recover damages of the greater of (a) one hundred dollars (\$100.00); or (b) three (3) times the amount of the check up to fifteen hundred dollars (\$1,500.00) in accordance with California Civil Code section 1719.

Charges and Fees Subject to Change

All charges and fees set forth in this Policy Statement are subject to change upon thirty (30) days prior written notice.

Overnight Payments

The mailing address for overnight payment of assessments is: Laguna Woods Mutual No. Fifty, Attn: Assessment Payments, 24351 El Toro Road, Laguna Woods, CA 92637.

Rights Reserved by Mutual

Although the matters set forth above summarize the policies and practices ordinarily employed to collect delinquent monthly assessments, the Mutual reserves the right to employ other or additional policies and practices as may be necessary or appropriate when the uniqueness of the circumstances or habitualness of the delinquency so requires.

Attachments

The Notice of Assessments and Foreclosure required by Civil Code section 5730 is contained in Attachment "A" to this Policy.

The disclosures required by the State Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and Federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act are contained in Attachment "B" to this Policy.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

LAGUNA WOODS MUTUAL NO. FIFTY

ATTACHMENT "A" NOTICE OF ASSESSMENTS AND FORECLOSURE

The following notice is provided pursuant to Civil Code Section 5730

NOTICE ASSESSMENTS AND FORECLOSURE

This notice outlines some of the rights and responsibilities of owners of property in common interest developments and the associations that manage them. Please refer to the sections of the Civil Code indicated for further information. A portion of the information in this notice applies only to liens recorded on or after January 1, 2003. You may wish to consult a lawyer if you dispute an assessment.

ASSESSMENTS AND FORECLOSURE

Assessments become delinquent 15 days after they are due, unless the governing documents provide for a longer time. The failure to pay association assessments may result in the loss of an owner's property through foreclosure. Foreclosure may occur either as a result of a court action, known as judicial foreclosure, or without court action, often referred to as nonjudicial foreclosure. For liens recorded on and after January 1, 2006, an association may not use judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure to enforce that lien if the amount of the delinquent assessments or dues, exclusive of any accelerated assessments, late charges, fees, attorney's fees, interest, and costs of collection, is less than one thousand eight hundred dollars (\$1,800). For delinquent assessments or dues in excess of one thousand eight hundred dollars (\$1,800) or more than 12 months delinquent, an association may use judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure subject to the conditions set forth in Article 3 (commencing with Section 5700) of Chapter 8 of Part 5 of Division 4 of the Civil Code. When using judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure, the association records a lien on the owner's property. The owner's property may be sold to satisfy the lien if the amounts secured by the lien are not paid. (Sections 5700 through 5720 of the Civil Code, inclusive)

In a judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure, the association may recover assessments, reasonable costs of collection, reasonable attorney's fees, late charges, and interest. The association may not use nonjudicial foreclosure to collect fines or penalties, except for costs to repair common area

damaged by a member or a member's guests, if the governing documents provide for this. (Section 5725 of the Civil Code)

The association must comply with the requirements of Article 2 (commencing with Section 5650) of Chapter 8 of Part 5 of Division 4 of the Civil Code when collecting delinquent assessments. If the association fails to follow these requirements, it may not record a lien on the owner's property until it has satisfied those requirements. Any additional costs that result from satisfying the requirements are the responsibility of the association. (Section 5675 of the Civil Code)

At least 30 days prior to recording a lien on an owner's separate interest, the association must provide the owner of record with certain documents by certified mail, including a description of its collection and lien enforcement procedures and the method of calculating the amount. It must also provide an itemized statement of the charges owed by the owner. An owner has a right to review the association's records to verify the debt. (Section 5660 of the Civil Code)

If a lien is recorded against an owner's property in error, the person who recorded the lien is required to record a lien release within 21 days, and to provide an owner certain documents in this regard. (Section 5685 of the Civil Code)

The collection practices of the association may be governed by state and federal laws regarding fair debt collection. Penalties can be imposed for debt collection practices that violate these laws.

PAYMENTS

When an owner makes a payment, the owner may request a receipt, and the association is required to provide it. On the receipt, the association must indicate the date of payment and the person who received it. The association must inform owners of a mailing address for overnight payments. (Section 5655 of the Civil Code)

An owner may, but is not obligated to, pay under protest any disputed charge or sum levied by the association, including, but not limited to, an assessment, fine, penalty, late fee, collection cost, or monetary penalty imposed as a disciplinary measure, and by so doing, specifically reserve the right to contest the disputed charge or sum in court or otherwise.

An owner may dispute an assessment debt by submitting a written request for dispute resolution to the association as set forth in Article 2 (commencing with Section 5900) of Chapter 10 of Part

5 of Division 4 of the Civil Code. In addition, an association may not initiate a foreclosure without participating in alternative dispute resolution with a neutral third party as set forth in Article 3 (commencing with Section 5925) of Chapter 10 of Part 5 of Division 4 of the Civil Code, if so requested by the owner. Binding arbitration shall not be available if the association intends to initiate a judicial foreclosure.

An owner is not liable for charges, interest, and costs of collection, if it is established that the assessment was paid properly on time. (Section 5685 of the Civil Code)

MEETINGS AND PAYMENT PLANS

An owner of a separate interest that is not a time-share interest may request the association to consider a payment plan to satisfy a delinquent assessment. The association must inform owners of the standards for payment plans, if any exists. The board must meet with an owner who makes a proper written request for a meeting to discuss a payment plan when the owner has received notice of a delinquent assessment. These payment plans must conform with the payment plan standards of the association, if they exist. (Section 5665 of the Civil Code)

ATTACHMENT "B"

The following Disclosure is made pursuant to Civil Code Section 1812.700-1812.703

"The State Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and the Federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act require that, except under unusual circumstances, collectors may not contact you before 8 a.m. or after 9 p.m. They may not harass you by using threats of violence or arrest or by using obscene language. Collectors may not use false or misleading statements or call you at work if they know or have reason to know that you may not receive personal calls at work. For the most part, collectors may not tell another person, other than your attorney or spouse, about your debt. Collectors may contact another person to confirm your location or enforce a judgment. For more information about debt collection activities, you may contact the Federal Trade Commission at 1-877-FTC-HELP or www.ftc.gov."

ROOM SERVICE MENU

Choose One: Entrée from Weekly Menu (A, B or C) Or

One Entrée from the Everyday Selections Listed Below

Comes with a choice of:

1 soup of the day or low sodium soups listed below Up to 3 side dishes from weekly menu or sides listed below Served with your choice of 1 dessert and beverage

EVERYDAY FROM THE GRILL

- Eggs or Omelette to order with choice of Bacon, Ham or Sausage
- Giant Hebrew National Hot Dog with Sauerkraut
- Broiled Boneless and Skinless Chicken Breast
- Broiled Chicken Quarter (White or Dark Meat)
- Poached or Grilled 5 oz. Salmon Filet or Rainbow Trout
- Charbroiled 4 oz. Choice Filet Mignon
- Spaghetti with Marinara Sauce
- Roasted Vegetable Wrap rolled in a Spinach Tortilla with Hummus Spread

EVERYDAY FROM THE PANTRY

- Create your favorite Sandwich. Select from Roast Beef, Turkey, Ham, Tuna, Chicken or Egg Salad made with your favorite Cheese, Bread and Condiments
- Fresh Fruit Plate served with Cottage Cheese and Date Nut Bread
 LOW SODIUM SOUPS
- Chicken Noodle, Tomato, Cream of Mushroom and Vegetable Soup SIDES

These favorites are always available to add to your meal selection:

- Garden Green Salad with Crisp Lettuce, Shredded Carrots, Beets, Tomato and Cucumber Slices with choice of dressing
- Steamed Broccoli or Carrots, Mashed Potatoes, French Fries or Onions Rings, Brown Rice or Baked Beans, Baked Potato or Yam DESSERTS
- No Sugar Added Ice Cream, Cake, Cookies, Apple Sauce, Jell-O, Fruit or Prunes

Our goal is to provide excellent food and service to all our residents. Please make it easy for your room service attendant and follow the above guidelines. We cannot provide extra choices or items.